2  –  The Return for Rutland

The Rutland return follows the standard pattern, beginning with a statement of population in 1871, the number of inhabited houses, and the number of parishes. The list consists of four columns, for name of owner, address of owner, extent of lands in acres, roods and perches, and gross estimated rental in pounds and shillings. At the end there are totals for owners of land of one acre and above and for owners of less than an acre, and an estimate of the extent of commons or waste lands. The list is arranged two columns to the page, extends to just over four pages, and contains 564 entries. The entries have been transcribed here as printed except that for ease of reference, and to permit the addition of notes to the list, the entries have additionally been numbered in sequence; errors and discrepancies in place names, some of which undoubtedly arose from misreadings of handwritten sources, are rendered verbatim, with attention drawn where possible to correct or conventional usage. No systematic attempt has been made to indicate errors or variations in personal names, of which there are certainly a number, such as Benti[n]ck (36) or Connant (113), or Blardsworth for Beardsworth (45). This is definitely the case with the Rev J H Hudyer [sic], with an address in Uppingham (263), whose surname, as Bateman pointed out upon information from the man in question (Bateman 1883, 169, 520), can only be Fludyer (see 168, J H Fludyer of Ayston): thus he is identified as the Rev Sir J H Fludyer, Bt, rector of both Thistleton and Ayston, who consequently appears twice in the list. Such errors as have been identified are pointed out in the accompanying notes.
	
	
	A    R    P
	£        s

	
	
	
	

	Owners of land above an acre in extent

Owners of land of less than one acre in extent

Estimated extent of any commons or waste lands in the county
	564

861

–
	92,945  3  13

132  0  33

401  3  32
	173,732    6

10,893    6

–

	
	
	
	

	Grand total
	1,425
	93,479   3  38
	184,626    0


Table 3. Summary of the Rutland return, taken from the Return of Owners of Land 1873 (1875, Rutland 5).
Owners’ names are in alphabetical order, usually with a forename, initials or combination of the two, or with an appropriate title (such as Sir, [the] Rev., or Lady). Where there are two owners of the same name in the same family, one or other may be shown as senior or junior (eg Robert Baines (20-21); but Hugh Clarke senior (97), of Lyddington, has no equivalent junior, although Harrod reveals that there was another Hugh Clarke who was a bricklayer and stonemason. Attention has already been drawn to the two William Ingrams at Uppingham (270-1). Female owners, of whom there are 61 including some with quite large holdings, are often, but not always, shown as Miss or Mrs., frequently without a forename: but those shown as ‘Mrs.’ need not necessarily be taken to be widows: for instance, perhaps the Mrs Bell of Uppingham (32) was the wife of Dr John or dr Thomas Bell of Bell & Son, surgeons, who appear in the directories. Here we should note that the ‘William and Anne Pochin’ of Edmondthorpe Hall (383) is a misrepresentation of William Ann Pochin JP DL, an error which, for once and perhaps out of politeness, Bateman neglects to pounce on. 

The only instances of joint ownership are Henry Lampson ‘and others’ of Oakham (302) and Messrs Rowlatt of Barrowden (436: Harrod shows them as landowners in the parish but gives just Thomas Rowlatt as a farmer). Sarah Pridmore of Morcott (398) is the only owner whose lands were in the hands of executors – this no doubt causing the lack of address (though Harrod shows John and William Charles Pridmore as land-owning farmers in the parish), while R N Newcomb of Little Casterton (348), — Richmond of Uppingham (425), and O N Simpson of Stamford (465) are represented by trustees. Perhaps the Chester Peru Newcomb Esq who appears in Harrod under Little Casterton was such a trustee.

Quite why the Countess of Harborough (222), with her five acres in Uppingham, could not be found is unclear. Although Robert, the colourful sixth and last Earl of Harborough died in 1859 without legitimate issue, local directories show that his widow Mary-Eliza (née Temple) continued to live at Stapleford in Leicestershire. Harrod, for example, lists her as one of the ‘chief owners’ of that parish, along with Major 
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Fig. 2. The Earl of Harborough’s mistress, 

Emma Sarah Love 

(O’Brien & Johnson 2000, 4).
Thomas W Clagett – a Leicester JP whom it trans-pires she had married in 1864. In the 1871 Census the couple were still there, but by 1881 they had retired to Devon: he died in 1885, and she died the following year (inf Cynthia Brown). Indeed, Bateman (1883, 90) lists these five acres under Major Clagett’s name, with the Countess in paren-theses – but he does not appear in the Return. Lord Harborough’s mistress, the actress and singer Emma Sarah Love, had eloped with him in 1829, lived at Stapleford, and was to bear him three sons (her intriguing story is told by O’Brien & Johnson 2000), the youngest of whom, the artist Edward Sherard Calcraft Kennedy RA (293), inherited the manor of Teigh jointly with her (VCH II, 154 – we may note that with an eye more to delicacy than to historical precision, Edward and his mother are described in VCH as the late Earl’s ‘relatives’), later selling it to Richard Thompson (492) (VCH II, 184). This accounts for some 1,250 of the 1,950 acres he is shown as owning. It is likely that the remainder was land in Whissendine which was not sold off in 1861 when 3,350 acres were parted with – the parish ex-tends to 4,000 acres (VCH II, 157-9); Harrod shows ‘E E Kennedy’ (sic) as lord of the manor, Lincoln-shire Archives hold an insurance valuation on build-ings on the estate of Edward Sherard Kennedy there in 1876 (1 Dixon 13/2/5/5-6), and Emma may have moved to Whissendine after the 6th Earl’s death. 

Owners’ addresses normally consist of a parish name only, but in some instances – usually referring to a major landowner – a specific location within the parish is given (eg 15, Lord Aveland, Normanton Park; 186, John Fytche, Thorpe Hall, [South] Elkington). Sometimes, too, a nearby town or village is also named (eg 208, Edward Grummite of Stainfield, Hacconby; 361, the Rev F Orme of Lyndon, Uppingham). We should note that sometimes this can give the impression that the owner is not resident in Rutland, as with C O Eaton (149) or J H L Wingfield (554), both shown as of Stamford but in fact resident at Tolethorpe (Little Caster-ton) and Tickencote respectively (Harrod) (see Tables 4 and 9). Similarly the entry for E N Conant (113), in giving his address as Uppingham, disguises the fact that he lived at Lyndon; that for Henry de Stafford (138) indicates Wansford, Northamptonshire, but fails to include the family seat, nearby, of Blatherwyke Park.

It is possible that some of these discrepancies were caused by reference to the post town rather than the village in question. However, this cannot be the case with some apparently anomalous entries for Caldecott: Harrod lists seven farmers whom he describes as landowners, all of whom appear in the Return, but of these only two, Thomas Brown [senior: junior, listed by Harrod, does not appear] (59) and Bellairs Butler (79), have Caldecott as their addresses in the Return; Joseph Barnett (27) is given as of Bisbrooke, where indeed he appears in Barker’s 1875 Directory (hereafter cited as ‘Barker’), while Hutchinson Hunt (266), Robert Morris (335) and Thomas Stokes (486) are all shown as of Rockingham: Barker places them firmly in Caldecott. 

Like all such sources, Harrod is not infallible, and a number of errors and inconsistencies have become apparent during this study. For instance, in some parishes he names as ‘other’ chief landowners a few people, nearly all farmers, that we can see from the Return in fact had quite minor amounts of land, the Caldecott entries being a case in point. Similarly, at Langham he lists the Earl of Gainsborough (lord of the manor) and Lord Aveland as principal owners, but the tithe map shows that the latter held only 94 acres at the eastern side of the parish (inf Mike Frisby). Such discrepancies may be partly due to the variable nature of infor-mation his correspondents supplied. However, he is certainly useful in enabling us, in some cases, to identify where certain landholdings were located. For example, W Hardy of Thistleton (225) appears as a landowner in Barrow, and most if not all of the 214 acres attributed to William Wing of Market Overton (551) were probably in adjoining Cottesmore. By the same token, various individuals whom he names as landowners do not appear in the Return, such as John Hill, William Louth and Mrs M A Williamson of Langham (though there are two John Williamsons, 544/545), J C Robinson of Preston (not the same as Joseph Robinson, 432), Thomas Bryan and S Fowlers of Whissendine, and J Gilson and Miss Gilson of Wing.

Looking further afield, London addresses tend to be the most precise: they may list street and number and generally give the postal district (eg 127, Charles Henry Cust, 13 Great Stanhope Street, W). Occasionally no parish name appears (229, W E C Hartopp, Four Oaks Hall – though the county is named and the place can be identified as Sutton Coldfield). Normally the county is not shown, and there seems to be no consistent reason for the inclusion of those that are. Some place names are mis-spelt or may be rendered in a form current at the time but since superseded (eg 511, Allerton for Allexton; 210, Clissham, for Clipsham; 326, Falkingham, for Folkingham; 366, Gaithorpe, for Caythorpe; 41, Nainby as an elided form of Navenby). Chipping Campden, which occurs thirteen times, is frequently shown just as Campden. Most place names have been identified, and they are listed with their county names in the index that follows the transcript, but it has not been possible to identify every place with certainty and attention is drawn to these in the index. 

No discrepancies are evident in the columns for extent of lands and gross estimated rental, which simply have to be interpreted having in mind the reservations expressed in the explanatory statement in the Return and, of course, any subsequent valid corrections arising from Bateman’s account.

Use of Land

There are virtually no clues in the Return as to the use of any of the land described, whether or not it was in the hands of corporate owners, it not being one of the purposes of the Return to discover land use as such. There is simply the general admission that the presence of buildings or mineral deposits, for example, could affect rental values. Only close study of individual parishes or estates would enable one to confirm the extent of quarrying building stone, as at Ketton or Clipsham, or iron ore, as at Market Overton, and thence to assess the effects of such exploitation on rental values at this time. On the other hand, the occupations of some 270 of the owners can be identified, as described below (Ch 3 & Table 11), and this emphasises the agricultural nature of the county. The only identifiable commercial owners are three of the national railway companies, the Great Northern, London & North Western, and Midland (403-05), and the local Stamford & Essendine Railway Company (406). Their combined holdings, representing Rutland’s railway network some years before it was developed to its fullest extent (Wales 2007), amounted to 303 acres (Table 6).

Most of the other corporate owners were in one way or another connected with ecclesiastical, social or charitable life – church lands, schools, hospitals, parish and poor law provision (Table 3). For example, Browne’s Hospital in Stamford (255) had an estate of 326 acres which provided vital income. In 1489, William Browne’s endowment of the hospital included property in Rutland consisting of three messuages, three tofts, two dovecotes, 180 acres of land and 20 acres of meadow in Stretton, North Luffenham (including Sculthorpe), and Bredcroft (Tinwell parish) (inf Alan Rogers). Much of this land lay in North Luffenham, where Harrod notes that the hospital is a chief landowner, and it would seem that the Trustees had built upon their original endowment.

As to non-rateable lands, there were no mines of any kind, as opposed to quarries, in Rutland. The extent of exempt woodland is not documented – though Kelly’s Directory (1881, 735) claimed that it amounted to nearly 3,000 acres, a figure which, like that quoted by White (1877), is likely to be based on the agricultural survey published by Parkinson some seventy years previously (Parkinson 1808). The extent of commons or waste land is estimated as 402 acres, or 0.43% of the rateable extent, just above the national average of 0.41% (calculated on the basis of the comparative table of results for all counties in the Return).

We may also note considerable discrepancies in later nineteenth century estimates of Rutland’s total acreage. The 1861 Census acreage was 95,805. However, Kelly (1881), aware of the figures in this Return which give a total including waste of 93,480 acres, quotes the 1871 Census acreage of 94,889 acres, while Brabner’s Comprehensive Gazetteer (1894) uses the 1891 Census figure – virtually the same as that used today – of 97,273 acres, of which, he says, some 300 (perhaps a misprint for 3,000) are woodland. There is also the question of the effect on the real total of an apparent error in the Marquess of Exeter’s return, amounting to 1,714 acres, described later. One is therefore never certain of being able to make accurate comparisons between such sources. There have been only minor boundary changes over the last 150 years. In this study, parish acreages given in VCH Rutland II (1935) have been employed.

Size of land holdings

Examination of the list at once reveals that there were four principal landowners in Rutland, their estates ranging from over 15,000 acres to nearly 9,200. These were Charles Noel, 2nd Earl of Gainsborough, of 
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Fig. 3. Rutland’s four principal landowners, from l to r: the Earl of Gainsborough (by L MacDonald, 1844: private collection), the Marquess of Exeter (cartoon by Spy), Lord Aveland (Grimsthorpe & Drummond 
Castle Trust), and G H Finch (by F W Pomeroy 1912: Oakham Castle).
	No
	Owner
	Address in Return
	Acreage
	Rental value
	Rental value per acre
	% of Rutland acreage
	% of 
rental value

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	187  
	Earl of Gainsborough
	Exton
	15,076 
	£23,716
	£1 11s
	16.2
	12.8

	  15
	Lord Aveland
	Normanton
	13,633
	£19,792
	£1   9s
	14.6
	10.7

	155
	Marquess of Exeter
	Stamford
	   10,712 *
	£16,388
	£1 11s
	11.5
	  8.9

	164
	G H Finch
	Burley
	  9,181
	£15,096
	£1 13s
	  9.9
	  8.2

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Totals
	48,602
	£74.992
	£1 11s

average
	52.2
	40.6

	

	

	The principal Rutland estates and lordships (in italics) of the above were as follows 

(as listed by Harrod, supplemented by VCH):

	

	Earl of Gainsborough
	Barrow, Beaumont Chase, Braunston, Brooke, Cottesmore, Exton, Horn, Langham, Leighfield, Manton, Market Overton, Preston, Ridlington, Uppingham, Whitwell.
	Lord of the manor

in eleven parishes, owner in four others

	Lord Aveland
	Barrowden, Edith Weston, Empingham, Gunthorpe (sole owner), Hambleton, Ketton, Langham, Leighfield, North Luffenham, South Luffenham, Morcott, Normanton, Pilton, Ridlington, Seaton, Stretton (sole owner), Whissendine.
	Lord of the manor

in eight parishes 

(two as sole owner), owner in nine others

	Marquess of Exeter
	Barrowden, Beaumont Chase, Caldecott, Great Casterton, Essendine, Lyddington, Morcott, Pickworth, Ryhall, Stoke Dry, Tinwell, Wing.
	Lord of the manor 

in ten parishes, 

owner in two others

	G H Finch
	Belton, Braunston, Burley, Egleton (sole owner), Greetham, Hambleton, Leighfield, Oakham (Lordshold), Wardley.
	Lord of the manor

in nine parishes 

(one as sole owner)


Table 4. Landowners holding over 9,000 acres (percentages rounded to one decimal point, values to the shilling), 

and the parishes in which their holdings and lordships lay.

* – if Bateman’s acreage for the Marquess of Exeter is accepted, since the rental total is unchanged

 his value per acre becomes £1 16s and the average is increased to £1 12s.

Exton; Gilbert John Heathcote, Lord Aveland (later to inherit the barony of Willoughby d’Eresby and to be elevated to the Earldom of Ancaster), of Normanton; William Alleyne Cecil, 3rd Marquess of Exeter, of Burghley (Stamford); and George Henry Finch MP, of Burley-on-the-Hill (Oakham). Tables 4 and 6 show that between them these four owned over 52% of Rutland’s 93,000 rateable acres, and that their gross estimated rentals amounted to some 40% of the £184,626 total. Between them, according to Harrod (Tables 4 & 00), they were lords of the manor, and usually shown as ‘chief owners’ and sometimes without any other owners being named, in 38 of the county’s listed parishes. In three cases, Egleton, Gunthorpe and Stretton, they are specifically named by Harrod as sole owners; a fourth parish, Lyndon, was in the sole ownership of E N Conant (113). Details of lords of the manor and chief owners are shown in Table 00. All except G H Finch also had substantial interests in some other parishes, and only in twelve parishes do none of them appear as owners. We may also note that five other members of the Noel family in the Return (352-56: or four if Gerard Noel is listed twice) between them owned a further 896 acres, two of the Heathcote family (240-41) a further 468 acres, and two of the Finch family (162-63) a further 36 acres – there are no others of the Cecil family. The importance and influence of these great estates in relation to the county’s economic and social structures in the second half of the nineteenth century can hardly be overemphasised. Indeed, on the basis of the Return and of Bateman’s account Thompson (1963, 32f), evidently equating quality with quantity, places Rutland at the head of a table of counties arranged in order of the proportion of total area occupied by such estates, causing him to regard Rutland as ‘beyond question the most aristocratic county’. He also places it at the head of a table of counties in order of density of country seats (although with just one such in its 31,000 acres QY this is a somewhat meaningless statistic) (ibid, 29f).

Although no other owners come near them in size of estate, there are twelve others whose estates are greater than 1,000 acres, as shown in Table 5, but the greatest of these is J H L Wingfield’s 2,876 acres, only a third of G H Finch’s which is the smallest of the big four. Even so, these twelve, including the combined entries for the Rev Sir J H Fludyer, account for a further 23% of the county’s lands, leaving the remaining 25% to be divided between some 1,400 other owners. Bateman (1883, 520) cautions the unwary statistician against using the figures for Rutland as a basis for judging the whole country, since an error of the Fludyer kind could have a quite disproportionate effect. Indeed, with this in mind, there may be cause to regard Thompson’s interpretation here as a little simplistic.
	No
	Owner
	Address in Return and
main Rutland estates 

(Harrod 1870)
	Acreage
	Rental value
	Rental value per acre
	% of Rutland acreage
	% of rental value

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	554
	J H L Wingfield
	Stamford

[Tickencote]
	EmpinghamMkt Overton Tickencote
	  2,876
	  £4,392
	£1 11s
	  3.1
	  2.4

	168/263
	The Rev J H Fludyer 1
	Ayston
	Ayston Thistleton Wardley
	  2,687
	  £4,003
	£1 10s
	  2.9
	  2.2

	333
	E H C Monckton
	Fineshade
	Belton Glaston Lyddington Seaton
	  2,183
	  £4,060
	£1 17s
	  2.3
	  2.2

	293
	Edward Sherard Calcraft Kennedy
	London
	Whissendine [Teigh] 3
	  1,950
	  £2,798
	£1   9s
	  2.1
	  1.5

	357
	Lord Northwick
	Moreton-in-M
	Ketton
	  1,885
	  £3,233
	£1 14s
	  2.0
	  1.8

	219
	John Handley
	Clipsham
	Clipsham Pickworth
	  1,736
	  £2,141
	£1   5s
	  1.9
	  1.2

	315
	Richard Lucas
	Edith Weston
	Edith Weston
	  1,631
	  £2,689
	£1 13s
	  1.8
	  1.5

	422
	Westley Richards 
	Birmingham
	Ashwell
	  1,504
	  £2,610
	£1 15s
	  1.6
	  1.4

	113
	E N Conant
	Uppingham

[Lyndon]
	Hambleton 

N Luffenham Lyndon 2
	  1,472
	  £2,446
	£1 13s
	  1.6
	  1.3

	221
	John A Hankey
	London
	Essendine
	  1,388
	  £1,581
	£1   3s
	  1.5
	  0.9

	382
	Henry B Pierrepont
	Chippenham
	Ryhall
	  1,178
	  £1,743
	£1 10s
	  1.3
	  0.9

	492
	Richard Thompson
	Stamford
	Lt Casterton

[Teigh] 3
	  1,103
	  £1,774
	£1 12s
	  1.2
	  1.0

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Totals
	21,593
	£33,470
	£1 11s average
	23.3
	18.1


Table 5. Landowners holding between 1,000 and 8,999 acres 

(percentages rounded to one decimal point, values to the shilling).

See also Table 10 for those with non-Rutland addresses.

Notes: 1: The lands of J H Fludyer and the Rev J H ‘Hudyer’ (sic) combined; 2: Sole owner; 

3: Although ownership of Teigh is not shown in Harrod, by this date Calcraft Kennedy had sold 

the manor to Thompson – it is not clear where this land might appear in the Return.

There are eight owners of 500-999 acres and 48 owners of 100-499 acres. The former include the Ecclesi-astical Commissioners (151) and one clergyman, the Rev the Hon A G Stewart, Rector of Cottesmore (484), and amongst the latter are St John’s College, Cambridge (109), the Dean and Chapter of Westminster, lords of the manor of Oakham Deanshold (136), Browne’s Hospital in Stamford (255) with, as already noted, an estate mainly in North Luffenham (Harrod), the Midland Railway Company (405), the Rector of Uppingham (415), twelve other named clergymen, William Ann Pochin of Edmondthorpe (383: 392ac), and two women, Miss Jane Exton of Manton Hall (156: 202ac) (Harrod), and Mrs Hart of North Luffenham (227: 102ac).

A number of those who fall into these larger landowning categories had addresses in other parts of the country. In many cases it is possible to identify the Rutland parishes in which their interest lay: these are summarised later and in Table 10. The Rutland lands of a few were not traced during this study: other researchers may be able to identify them and reveal the location of and reasons for their Rutland interests.

Also in the 100-499 acre bracket is John Eagleton (145), whose address could not be found but who evidently held nearly 144 acres in Belton: in fact he was a tea importer and the family had lived at Belton House. He had been High Sheriff in 1830, and in White’s 1862 directory is shown as owning two-thirds of the parish. He may be an example of how the use of out-of-date valuation lists hindered the compilation of the Return, for the parish registers show that he died in 1868, and it seems possible that Edward Monckton (333), who already owned Old Hall, then purchased some of his estate. John Eagleton left a widow, Mary Ann, who died in 1870 but is listed as one of the principal landowners and resident in the parish in Harrod’s Directory of that year: one can but wonder then if the Mary Ann Eagleton shown at an address in Colsterworth (146) with 17 acres was either his widow or, more probably, their daughter of the same name, perhaps living with their son the Rev John William at nearby Swayfield – Miss Eagleton is given as a Belton landowner in a number of later directories. Another son, Charles James, also took holy orders, and a third, Henry, emigrated to America. Small wonder, then, that the compilers could not find John Eagleton: perhaps they were simply looking for the wrong person. Robert Ovens and Sheila Sleath have kindly helped with information about the Eagleton family.
Of the remaining 1,353 landowners, 636 (including the other three railway companies) held 8,021 acres between them, an average of just over 12½ acres each, and the other 861 held less than one acre apiece and therefore do not appear in the published list. The details are summarised in Table 6.
Bateman (1883, 501) applied his own somewhat subjective seven-tier classification to the social hierarchy of land ownership, tabling the results county by county. In the first rank were peers of the realm and their eldest sons, then great landowners (commoners with at least 3,000 acres if their rental was at least £3,000pa), squires (1,000-3,000ac, with a further qualification), greater yeomen (1,000-300ac), lesser yeomen (100-300ac), and small proprietors (1-100ac). Those unnamed owners of less than one acre he called cottagers. As far as Rutland was concerned (ibid, 508), he counted one peer, five great landowners, five squires, ten greater yeomen, 32 lesser yeomen, 458 small proprietors, and 861 cottagers. The single peer he allowed was 

	Land holding in acres
	No of Owners
	Total acreage
	Total rental value
	Rental value per acre
	% of Rutland acreage
	% of Rutland rental value

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Over 9,000
	       4
	48,602
	  £74,992
	  £1 11s
	  52.2
	  40.6

	1,000-8,999
	     12
	21,593
	  £33,470
	  £1 11s
	  23.3
	  18.1

	500-999
	       8
	  4,878
	    £9,418
	  £1 19s
	    5.2
	    5.1

	           100-499
	{
	  47

    1 1
     48
	9,494

   178
  9,612
	£19,029

  £9,368
  £28,397
	  £2   0s

£52 13s
  £2 19s
	10.2

  0.2
  10.4
	10.3

  5.1
  15.4

	           1-99
	{
	633

    3 1
   636
	7,896

   125
  8,061
	£23,400

  £4,056
  £27,456
	  £2 19s

£32   9s
  £3   8s
	  8.5

  0.1
    8.6
	12.7

  2.2
  14.9

	Less than 1
	   861
	     312
	  £10,893
	£34 18s
	    0.3
	    5.9

	Totals
	1,425
	  93,078 2
	£184,626
	  £2   0s

  average
	100.0
	100.0

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Railway companies
	     4
	   303
	  £13,424
	£44 6s

average
	    0.3
	    7.3


Table 6. Summary of land holdings, acreages and rental values, with railway companies shown both separately

and inclusively in their respective categories to emphasise the distorting effect of their inclusion 

(percentages rounded to one decimal point).

Notes: 1: railway companies; 2: excluding 402 acres of waste or common land.
	No
	Name
	Variations or further information in Bateman (1883)

	
	
	

	2
	Sir C B Adderley
	Lord Norton [peerage 1878]; Hams Hall, Birmingham; 349ac, not 322ac

	15
	Lord Aveland
	no change

	37
	Lady Berners
	Succeeded by the Hon Harry Tyrwhitt Tyrwhitt-Wilson 1874 at Keythorpe Hall

	43
	William Blake
	Succeeded by Arthur Maurice Blake 1875; Danesbury, Welwyn

	52
	Sir William de Capell Brooke, Bt
	Oakley Hall, Kettering (rather than Market Harborough)

	113
	Edward Nathaniel Conant
	Lyndon Hall

	127
	Charles Henry Cust
	Succeeded by Ernest Richard Charles Cust; Arthingworth, Northants

	138
	Henry de Stafford
	Succeeded by Horace Stafford O’Brien 1880; Blatherwycke, Northants

	143
	Earl of Dysart
	no change

	155
	Marquess of Exeter
	Acreage reduced to 8,998ac from 10,712ac; value unchanged at £16,388

	162
	Charles Arthur Wynne-Finch
	Voelas, Denbigh

	164
	G H Finch
	no change

	168 & 263
	J H Fludyer

&

Rev J H Hudyer 
	Rev Sir John Henry Fludyer, Bt; acreage combined as 2,638ac, not 2,687ac; ‘One acre in Rutland is owned by Sir J. Fludyer’s eldest son. The greater part of the property in that county will be found as possessed by a mythical “Rev. J. H. Hudyer” ’ 

	179
	Edward Frewen
	Brickwall House, Northiam; 55ac, not 6ac

	186
	John Fitche
	J L Ffytche

	187
	Earl of Gainsborough
	no change

	219
	John Handley
	J W H Davenport-Handley

	221
	John A Hankey
	Succeeded by Mrs Hankey 1881; Balcombe Place, Haywards Heath

	222
	Countess of Harborough
	‘Major Clagett, (and Harborough, Countess of)’; Stapleford Park

	229
	W E C Hartopp
	Succeeded by Sir J W Cradock-Hartopp, Bt, 1874

	251
	Rev W Hopkinson
	no change

	311
	Earl of Lonsdale
	Lowther Castle, Penrith

	315
	Richard Lucas
	no change

	333
	E H C Monckton
	Succeeded by Edward Philip Monckton 1878

	357
	Lord Northwick
	no change

	383
	William Ann Pochin
	387ac, not 392ac

	437
	G D Rowley
	Succeeded by George Fydell Rowley 1878; Priory Hill, St Neots

	442
	Duke of Rutland
	764ac, not 761ac

	531
	George Lewis Watson
	no change

	535
	Sir Thomas Whichcote, Bt
	Aswardby, Folkingham; 4ac, not 34ac

	550
	Earl of Winchelsea
	Earl of Winchelsea and Nottingham

	553
	J H Lee Wingfield
	Succeeded by John Maurice Wingfield 1880; 2,905ac, not 2,876ac


Table 7. Comparison of John Bateman’s 1883 data with those in the 1873 Return. 

Lord Gainsborough, Lord Aveland having his principal property in Lincolnshire and Lord Exeter in Northamptonshire (ibid, 520). To this he added the 53 public bodies to arrive at the same total of 1,425 owners as the Return. He actually lists just over thirty owners of land in Rutland with details of their holdings (Table 10), information which Thompson (1963, 113-17) drew on in tabulating rankings of the counties by estates of the gentry, squirearchy and smaller landowners, pointing out that Rutland was one of the counties in which greater gentry estates were more than twice as extensive as those of the squires.

One of the results of Bateman’s investigations was to reveal differences between some of the totals of land given in the Return and those supplied to him direct by individual owners. Some of these differences were no doubt due to errors in the Return, some to surveyors’ errors, and others to acquisitions and disposals of land in the intervening years. As far as Rutland is concerned, many of the entries are the same and some differ by only a few acres, not enough to cause concern: for instance, William Pochin (383) is shown as having lost five acres. In other cases, the differences are proportionately greater but still not of great import: Sir C B Adderley (2) – recorded by Bateman as Lord Norton following his eventual elevation to the peerage in 1878 – appears to have a further 27 acres to make a total of 349, while Edward Frewen (179) now has not 6 acres but 55, and Sir Thomas Whichcote, Bt, (535) has not 4 acres but 34. We may note in passing that Adderley must be one of the few people to have two streets named after him in a single town: Adderley Street, and Norton Street, both in Uppingham – as well as Adderley Street in Cape Town!
In only one instance is there a significant difference – and it is a substantial one: based on details supplied to him he shows the Marquess of Exeter as owning not 10,712 acres but 8,998. This is a drop of 1,714 acres,  
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Fig. 4. Bateman’s seven-tier system as applied to Rutland, and his entries for the Marquess of Exeter
 and G H Finch (Bateman 1883, 156 (Exeter), 165 (Finch), 508 (table); http://openlibrary/org).

equivalent in Rutland terms to a parish or two. How this is accounted for is not explained: one has to suspect either double counting in the Return or a disposal of land in the intervening years. If correct, it would place the Marquess in fourth place after G H Finch. There is no such difficulty with Lord Aveland or the Earl of Gainsborough, nor indeed with G H Finch whose figure, at 9,183, is only 2 acres adrift. We may note that Bateman does not alter the rental value of the Marquess’s lands; the effect of this is to increase that figure to over £1 16s per acre and the average of the big four to £1 12s. Whether reducing his lands by 1,714 acres, combined with the other changes noticed by Bateman, actually means that Rutland was that much smaller than the Return supposes is not clear: if so, then all the other rental value and acreage percentages are subject to some slight adjustment – a road that this particular writer does not wish to travel!

Bateman’s work, which has the advantage of listing each owner’s lands county by county, enables us to make another point, namely that the size of an individual’s holdings in one county bears no relationship to his holdings in another – though no attempt has been made here to coordinate the Rutland list with those for other counties. In the case of Rutland, it comes as no surprise to see that the Marquess of Exeter, for example, has more substantial estates in Northamptonshire, that Lord Aveland has over 10,000 acres in Lincolnshire, or that the Earl of Lonsdale’s main seat at Lowther Castle was the focus for Cumbrian estates of over 67,000 acres. Perhaps we can also understand why the Earl of Dysart of Buckminster Park, not far from the county boundary, should have had 22 Rutland acres as well as his 18,000 in Lincolnshire. However, it is harder to explain why W E C Hartopp of Four Oaks in Warwickshire (229), succeeded in 1874 by Sir J W Cradock-Hartopp, Bt, should have possessed an estate of 2,181 acres in Leicestershire and Warwickshire and a mere 2 acres in Rutland, or why Charles Henry Cust (the younger son of the first Earl Brownlow), similarly succeeded in 1875 by E R C Cust, of Arthingworth in Northamptonshire, should have had very large estates of nearly 15,000 acres in Lincolnshire but also just 2 acres in Rutland. 
At the other end of the scale, amongst the smaller landowners, one may surmise that multiple instances of the same surname occurring in the same or adjoining Rutland parishes, or indeed across the country, will often represent members of the same family. Local examples include three Clarkes in Morcott (102-04), the Pridmores of South Luffenham (397, 400-01), and the Sharpes of Braunston and perhaps those in Oakham too (452-56); those further afield may include the Bullocks (70-73), Henry living fashionably in central London, Mrs [Selina] being a lady of independent means in Lyddington, and the other two residing in coastal Devon – of whom Harrod shows J Healey Bullock (72) as a landowner in Manton. Exceptional, however, must be the eight Jacksons (275-82): although only one has a Rutland address, four of the others (of whom two live in or near Wisbech, one in central London and one in Bedford) hold identical amounts of land (2ac 2r 20p), all valued at 5 shillings. These seem certain to represent a division of property amongst a family whose members may have uprooted themselves from Rutland – not all eight are necessarily of the same family, but if they are then John, in Hampstead, has the lion’s share with 178 acres.

Gross estimated rental values

The gross estimated rental value per acre for the county totalled £184,626, at an average per owner of £129 11s as against a national average of £102 10s. However, without the big four, the rentals amount to £109,634, an average per owner of £77 3s.

Tables 4-6 show that the rental values of the big four and of the next twelve landowners average £1 11s per acre. G H Finch’s land was worth a little more, and Lord Aveland’s a little less. The extremes were the Rutland estates of E H C Monckton of Fineshade Abbey, just over the border, at £1 17s (closely matched by the Marquess of Exeter at £1 16s if Bateman is correct, as noted above), and the Londoner John A Hankey whose Essendine estate was valued at a modest £1 3s.

Leaving aside the four railway companies, whose 303 acres are valued highly at an average of £44 6s per acre and thus distort the figures (Table 6), the trend is then that the smaller the landholding, the higher its rental value, rising to £3 8s for 1 to 99 acres. However, the real distinction comes with those owning less than 1 acre, valued at an average of £34 18s, a reflection of the fact that most such properties are likely to have consisted of domestic, trade or business premises in built-up areas. In this context we may note that the Trustees of Uppingham School’s land, less than two acres in extent, had an exceptional rental value of £215 – five times as much per acre as the seven acres belonging to the Governors of Oakham Grammar School (446, 447). Small properties at the low end of the rental scale may have included parcels of agricultural land, gardens, or buildings of little worth. 

This remains an aspect of the matter which, as noted above, the Return points out was fraught with difficulties and would have required minute local investigation in order to provide a true picture. Well over a century later this remains the case, presenting an opportunity for further investigation by an economic historian.

There is a very marked disparity in the relative values of the four railway companies’ land. The Great Northern’s modest 30 acres come in at £95 13s per acre, followed by the Midland’s 178 acres – the largest holding – at £52 15s (similar to the valuation of their 901 acres in neighbouring Leicestershire), the Stamford & Essendine’s 21 acres at £30 19s, and lastly the London & North Western’s 73 acres at a miserable £7 5s. There seems on the face of it no clear reason why the Great Northern’s land should be assessed so highly, although it may simply reflect the commercial value of its main line from London to the north, which clips eastern Rutland – coincidentally through John Hankey’s Essendine. The low value of the London & North Western’s land may possibly be due to the fact that the Return was being compiled just at the time when major new developments were being embarked on (Wales 2007, 237): land may have been acquired for the project but not yet developed, thus being of only nominal value. This may be supported by the fact that the Great Northern’s 143 acres in Leicestershire also come in at a low value of only £6 14s: this was after all a joint project between the two companies. Figures given for other counties indicate that such widely divergent values for elements of the railway industry seem to apply across the country.

	Parish
	Owners shown in Harrod 

(O = Owner(s); L = Lord of the Manor)
	Clergy shown in Harrod  & Barker 

(C = Curate, R = Rector; V = Vicar)

	
	
	

	Ashwell
	O, L: W Richards (422)
	R: Thomas Yard (563) (H, B)

	Ayston
	O, L: The Rev J H Fludyer (168/263) (R)
	R: John Henry Fludyer (H, B) (see 409)

C: Henry Rousby (H)

	Barrow
	O, L: Gainsborough

O: J Christian (89), W Hardy (225)
	R: Chapelry, see Cottesmore

	Barrowden
	O, L: Exeter

O: Aveland, Messrs Rowlatt (436), ‘several others’ [E Cliff (107), T Rowlatt]
	R: Charles Atlay (H);

    Charles James Dyer (142) (B) (see 410)

C: H E Gedge (H)

	Beaumont Chase
	O, L: Gainsborough

O: Exeter
	Not shown (no church)

	Belton
	L: G H Finch

O: Messrs Monckton (=333), York (?564), G Ward (526/527), 

G Goodliffe (200/201), & Mrs Eagleton (146/147); [also: R W Baines (20), H Corby (121), G Osborne (363)]
	Vicarage annexed to Wardley (VCH)

	Bisbrooke
	O, L: Duke of Rutland (442)

O: [also: T Mason (325)]
	V: — Burnaby (H);

    William Lyme Fowke (B) (171) (see 513)

	Braunston
	L: G H Finch

O: Gainsborough, the Rev L Heathcote, C Smith (?470)
	Annexed to Hambleton (H, B)

C: William Jackson (H) (sv Hambleton)

	Brooke
	O, L: Gainsborough
	Curacy annexed to Oakham (H, B)

C: E T Holmes (H); Alexander Grimaldi (B)

	Burley
	O, L: G H Finch
	V: William Gay (192) (H, B)

	Caldecott
	O, L: Exeter

O: G L Watson (531), ‘others’ [T Brown sen (59) & jun, B Buttler (79), H Hunt (266), R Morris (335), T Stokes (486)]
	V: Thomas Wheeler Gillham  (194) (H, B)

    (see 514)

	Casterton, Gt
	O, L: Exeter
	Annexed with Pickworth 

R: Joseph Place (H, B) (see 411)

	Casterton, Lt
	O, L: Richard Thompson (492)

O: C O Eaton
	R: James Twining (510) (H, B)

	Clipsham
	O, L: John Handley (219)
	R: Charles Thomas Hoskins (254) (H, B)

	Cottesmore
	O, L: Gainsborough

O: J Christian (89), W Wing (551)
	R: Andrew Godfrey Stuart (484) (H, B)

C: Stephen Miles (H)

    Theophilus John Fenton (B)

	Edith Weston
	O, L: Richard Lucas (315)

O: Aveland
	R: Charles Halford Lucas (314) (H, B)

	Egleton
	O, L: G H Finch (sole owner)
	Annexed to Oakham (H, B)

	Empingham
	O, L: Aveland

O: H L Wingfield (552)
	V (H); R (B) [Rectory from 1867 (VCH)]: 

Thomas Lovick Cooper (119) (H, B)

	Essendine
	L: Exeter

O: J A Hankey (221)
	Annexed to Ryhall

	Exton
	O, L: Gainsborough
	V: Leland Noel (355) (H);

     George Knox (B)

	Glaston
	O, L: E C Monckton (333)

O: The Hon W C Evans Freke (177), Col Lowther (=311)
	R: Barnard Smith (468) (H, B)

	Greetham
	O, L: G H Finch
	V: R W Bulmer (74) (H, B)

	Gunthorpe
	O: Aveland (sole owner)
	Not shown (no church)

	Hambleton
	O, L: G H Finch

O: Aveland, E N Conant (113)
	V: Richard James Webb (533) (H, B)

[C]: Wm Hippisley Jackson, C of Braunston, also resident (H, B)

	Horn
	O, L: not shown, but with Exton (VCH), hence Gainsborough 
	Not shown (no surviving church)

	Ketton
	O, L: Lord Northwick (357)

O: Aveland, the Hon Henry Noel (353), ‘others’ [Mrs Buckworth (?69), J T Stangar (480)
	Annexed with Tixover

V: John Henry Noyes (H, B)

	Langham
	O, L: Gainsborough

O: Aveland [also: E G Baker (24), J Hill, J Hubbard (261), W Louth, W Sharrard (457), Mrs M A Williamson (?544/545)]
	Annexed with Oakham;

C: Henry Cromwell Johnston (H, B)

	Leighfield
	O, L: G H Finch

O: Aveland, Gainsborough
	Not shown (no church)

	Luffenham, North
	O, L: Aveland

O: E N Conant (113), W R Morris (337), R Lucas (315), Browne’s Hospital (255)
	R: Philip Gretton Dennis (137) (H, B)

(see 412)

	Luffenham, South
	O, L: Aveland
	R: James Lonsdale (312) (H);

    Hay Sweet Escott (B) (see 518)

C: C E Egerton (H)


	Parish
	Owners shown in Harrod 

(O = Owner(s); L = Lord of the Manor)
	Clergy shown in Harrod  & Barker 

(C = Curate, R = Rector; V = Vicar)

	
	
	

	Lyddington
	O, L: Exeter

O: E H C Monckton (333), J P Clark (99), ‘others’ [J Pretty (393), Mrs M Pretty (494)]
	V: Thomas Wheeler Gillham (194) (H, B)

C: Hugh Bryan (64) (H)

    (see 516)

	Lyndon
	O: E N Conant (sole owner)
	R: Frederick Orme (361) (H, B)

	Manton
	O, L: E W Smith

O: Gainsborough, J H Bullock (72)

[also: R Pawley (377), J T Springthorpe (478)]
	V: Frederick John Freeman (172) (H, B)

	Market Overton
	O, L: J H L Wingfield (554)

O: Gainsborough, Wm Wing (551)

[also: J Davis (131), M Kew (294), J M Kew]
	R: Harry Lee L Wingfield (H, B)

[The Rev T W Ward also resident (H)]

	Martinsthorpe
	L: Sir William de Capell Brooke (52)
	R: George Quirk  (H, B) [sinecure]

	Morcott
	O, L: G D Rowley (437)

O: Exeter, Aveland
	R: G W Stuart Menteath (329) (H)

     James Stuart (B)

C: John Briggs (H)

	Normanton
	O, L: Aveland
	R: Thomas Bentley Brown (54) (H, B), domestic chaplain to Lord Aveland (B)

	Oakham
	L (Lordshold): G H Finch

L (Deanshold & Barleythorpe): Dean & Chapter of Westminster

Owners not shown
	Annexed with Brooke, Egleton & Langham

V: John Mould (338) (B, H)

C: Alexander B Grimaldi & George Wyatt (B)

	Pickworth
	O, L: Exeter

O: — Handley (= 219)
	Annexed to Great Casterton (H, B)

	Pilton
	O, L: Aveland

O: Thomas Heathcote (?241)
	R: Thomas Bentley Brown (54) (H, B) 

    (see 413)

	Preston
	L: Gainsborough

O: The Rev William Belgrave (31), J Parker (374), T Lawrence (305), ‘others’ [T Fryer (184), Mrs Needham (344), J C Robinson (?431), J Robinson (432)]
	R: William Belgrave (H)

    Reginald Bassett Rogers (434) (B)

	Ridlington
	O, L: Gainsborough

O: Aveland
	R: Charles Rae Hay (H)

    Willoughby Willey (542) (B)

	Ryhall
	O, L: Exeter

O: B Pierrepont (382) ; [also: J Lowe (313)]
	Annexed with Essendine

V: Charles Potchett (391) (H, B)

	Seaton
	O, L : Aveland

O: E H C Monckton (333)
	R: Thomas Heycock (243) (H, B)

	Stoke Dry
	O, L: Exeter
	R: William Hamilton Thompson (494) (H, B)

	Stretton
	O: Aveland (sole owner)
	R: William Hirse Simpson (H)

     Edward Bradley (50) (B)

	Teigh
	O, L: not shown, but probably Richard Thompson (492) (VCH)
	R: Alfred Singleton Atcheson (10) (H, B)

	Thistleton
	O, L: The Rev J H Fludyer (168/263) (R)
	R: John Henry Fludyer (H)

    Charles Allison Holmes (248) (B)

C: Henry Paul Lazonby (H)

	Thorpe by Water
	Hamlet included under Seaton
	Not shown (no church)

	Tickencote
	O, L: John Lee Wingfield (554)
	R: George Wingfield (H, B)

	Tinwell
	O, L: Exeter

O: Dr Robbs (429); [also: R L Bradshaw sen (51)]
	R: Charles Arnold (8) (H, B)

	Tixover
	O, L: De Stafford O’Brien de Stafford (sic, = 138)

O: The Rev — Turnor (?507)
	Curacy annexed to Ketton (H, B)

	Uppingham
	O, L: not shown, but Lord Gainsborough has main manor (VCH)
	R: William Wales (H, B) (see 415)

	Wardley
	L: G H Finch

O: The Rev J H Fludyer (168/263)
	Rectory annexed with Belton (VCH)

V/R: Charles Henry Newmarch (350) (H, B) 

C: James Cardwell Gardener (H)

	Whissendine
	O, L: E E Kennedy (=293)

O: Aveland, S Fowler; [also: T Bryan]
	V: Edward Lakin Horne (253) (H, B)

	Whitwell
	O, L: Gainsborough
	R: Charles Spencer Ellicott (154) (H, B)

C: R Cropper (H)

	Wing
	O, L: Exeter

O: William Shield (460), J Gilson, Miss Gilson
	R: Charles Boys (49) (H, B)


Table 8: Rutland parishes showing lords of the manor and landowners recorded by Harrod,

 and clergy recorded by Harrod and Barker.
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